
AGENDA 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting  

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Conference Center 
Monday, November 23, 2020 

9:00 a.m. 

*NOTE TO ALL PUBLIC ATTENDEES:

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located outside 
the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the Recording 
Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed prior to the 
Airport Commission’s discussion and you will have 5 minutes to address the Airport 
Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 

II. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission September 28, 
2020 Regular Meeting Minutes (document) 

B. Acceptance of the Greenville-Spartanburg Audit Committee November 12, 
2020 Audit Committee Minutes (document) 

III. PRESENTATIONS: None

IV. OLD BUSINESS:  None

V. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Approval of a Revision to the Rules & Regulations (document) 

B. Approval of a Budget Amendment to the General Aviation Expansion Area Site 

Prep Project (document) 

C. Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Facility (document) 

D. Approval of General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project (document) 

E. Approval of Milliken Aviation Hangar Project Budget (document)  



GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION 
AGENDA Monday, September 28, 2020 
Page 2 

VI. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:

A. Aviation Industry Update 
B. Federal and State Legislative Update 
C. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update  

VII. INFORMATION SECTION:
(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to
address any questions the Commission may have.)

A. September 2020 – Traffic Report (document)
B. September 2020 – Financial Report (document)
C. October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report (document)
D. October 2020 – Communications Status Report (document)
E. October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report (document) 
F. October 2020 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document)
G. Industry Presentation(s)/Article(s) of Interest (document)
H. Potential Items for the Next Regular Scheduled Commission Meeting:

• Final Terminal Area Planning Study

VIII. COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS:

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

The Airport Commission may hold an Executive Session for the purpose of 
receiving legal advice on various matters. 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a matter 
of convenience to the public. It is not the official agenda. Although every effort is made 
to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The Airport Commission 
does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for any purpose. The 
agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission meeting. 

























 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
 
_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item A 

 

Approval of Revision to the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Rules and Regulations 
 
BACKGROUND 

 
South Carolina Code of Laws, Title 55 – Aeronautics, Chapter 11, Article 3 created the 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (District) and empowers the District to create and 
enforce certain rules and regulations. 
 
The purpose of the District Rules and Regulations document is to establish guidelines for 
the safe and efficient operation of the Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) 
and associated property owned by the District. 
 
The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission (Commission) is authorized to employ 
police officers commissioned by the Governor to enforce all laws and the rules and 
regulations, and these officers shall be authorized to issue summonses for violations in 
the manner authorized for state highway patrolmen. 
 

ISSUES 

 
Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing is a mobility platform for people that do not need to own or 
want a car, but need one from time to time. It is important to note that Peer-to-Peer 
Vehicle Sharing is distinct from ridesharing in that members are renting a vehicle and 
driving themselves rather than being picked up and driven by Transportation Network 
Companies (TNCs) through entities such as Uber and Lyft. Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing 
platforms are becoming more popular in the airport environment as it provides a flexible 



 

 
 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 

New Business Item A 
Approval of Revision to the Rules and Regulations  
Page 2 

  

option to the traveling public rather than renting a car from a traditional rental car 
company or using taxi and TNCs services.  
 
Staff has reviewed the existing Rules and Regulations and made recommended revisions 
to accommodate Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing companies at the Airport, such as Car2Go, 
Zipcar, and Turo.  The Commission’s adoption of the revised Rules and Regulations is 
necessary for Staff to be able to properly enforce the new regulations.   In addition, it 
will permit the District to enact an appropriate fee schedule related to this ground 
transportation option for the traveling public.  These regulations and associated fee 
schedule will create a fair and equitable operating environment for all ground 
transportation companies providing services to the traveling public at the Airport. 
 
Also, when the complete rewrite version of the Rules and Regulations were adopted by 
the Airport Commission on June 24, 2019, the previously approved TNC portion of the 
regulations were inadvertently omitted.  Therefore, the TNC language has been 
reinserted into the Rules and Regulations.  Please see the attached revised Rules and 
Regulations sections for review. 
 

ALTERNATIVES 

 

No alternatives are recommended at this time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Approval of the recommended revisions to the District Rules and Regulations will permit 
the Airport District to charge applicable fees.  However, at this time, it is unknown what 
amount of revenue will be generated if and when Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing 
agreements are executed with the applicable companies to operate at the Airport. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION  

 
It is respectfully requested that the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission resolve 
to adopt the revised Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Rules and Regulations as 
amended. 
 
 
 
Attachment 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 9 
 

 
3.10 Use or Occupancy of Airport Operations Area (AOA) 
 

No person shall use or occupy an Airport operations area unless the activity is in 
conjunction with: servicing of tenants, concessionaires, airlines, activities 
associated with airlines, governmental agencies, or a purpose connected with the 
maintenance and operation of the Airport. 
 

3.11 Authority to Deny Use 
 
 The President/CEO or their designee may deny the use of the Airport to any 

aircraft, pilot or personnel violating District or FAA regulations, whether the 
violation occurred at this Airport or another. 

 
3.12 Use of Airport as Base 
 
 The basing and operation of personnel and company owned aircraft at the 

Airport will be by written agreement with the District or Fixed Base Operator. If 
such aircraft are used for hire or other commercial purposes all applicable 
permits and fees must be paid to the District. 

 
3.13 Certificated Part 121 Air Carrier 
 

a. Any certificated part 121 air carrier wishing to enplane or deplane passengers or 
cargo must notify the President/CEO, or their designee no less than 24 hours 
prior to arrival. Information required includes: 

 
(1) Company operating the flight 
(2) Type and registration number of aircraft 
(3) Estimated time of arrival and departure to and from GSP 
(4) Destination from GSP 
(5) Number of passengers and their organization 
(6) Insurance certificate 

Unless a contract or lease with the District is in place, the current schedule of 
fees shall apply. 
 

3.14 Ground Transportation – Non-Transportation Network Company (TNC) 
 

a. No individual or entity, other than authorized concessionaires, may operate any 
taxicab, shuttle, courtesy vehicle, bus, personal vehicle, or rental car for the 
purpose of carrying passengers for hire from the Airport unless such operation is 
with the approval of the President/CEO, or their designee and under such terms 
and conditions as prescribed by the District. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 10 
 

 
b. All individuals, partnerships, LLC or corporations operating for hire and courtesy 

vehicle services must have a fully executed Non-Tenant Business Permit or be 
under contract with the District.  

 
i. Operators of for hire and courtesy vehicles without a fully executed Non-

Tenant Business Permit or contract from the District may unload passengers 
who made prior arrangements. Operators of these vehicles may not solicit 
business or load passengers even if prior arrangements were made. 

 
ii. Operators with a fully executed Non-Tenant Business Permit may not cruise or 

solicit business from Airport property but may load passengers, if prior 
arrangements were made. 

 
c. All for hire vehicles must hold a Class C – Certificate of Public Conveyance and 

Necessity issued by the South Carolina Public Service Commission. 
 
d. All permittees shall abide by all federal and state laws as well as all Airport Rules 

and Regulations. 
 
e. Operators must be clearly identifiable to the public as employees of the non-

tenant operator. 
 
f. Vehicles will park or stand in designated areas to wait for arriving passengers. 

Non-tenant vehicles may pull to the front curb to actively load/unload only. 
 

3.15 Ground Transportation – Transportation Network Company (TNC) 
 

a. TNC Operators must have a fully executed TNC Operating Permit and shall pay 
applicable fees to operate at the Airport, as amended from time to time by the 
Airport District in accordance with South Carolina Code Section 58-23-1710. 

 
b. TNC Operators shall only accept rides booked through the TNC’s mobile 

application and shall not solicit or accept street hails. 
 

c. TNC Operators shall not cruise Airport roadways in search of passengers. 
 
d. TNC Operators will park their vehicles to wait for arriving passengers and 

actively load/unload passengers in designated areas only. 
 

e. All TNC Operators shall abide by all federal and state laws as well as all Airport 
Rules and Regulations. 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 11 
 

 
3.16 Ground Transportation – Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing 
 

a. Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing Operators must have a fully executed Peer-to-Peer 
Vehicle Sharing Operating Permit and shall pay applicable fees to operate at the 
Airport, as amended from time to time by the Airport District. 

b. Vehicle owners participating in Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing shall only accept 
customers that have booked through the Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing platform 
and shall not solicit for customers at the Airport.  
 

c. Vehicle owners participating in a Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing shall park their 
vehicles in the Airport’s public parking lots and shall pay the applicable parking 
lot fees as posted. No transaction or vehicle exchanges shall occur on the 
Airport’s Fixed Based Operator (FBO) or terminal building front curb nor any 
other areas of the Airport other than the public parking lots.  
 

d. All Peer-to-Peer Vehicle Sharing Operators shall abide by all federal and state 
laws as well as all Airport Rules and Regulations.  

 
3.17 Penalties 
 

Violations of Section 3.14, 3.15, and 3.16 may result in a citation triable in 
Magistrate Court and/or paying permit and pickup fees. 

 
3.18 Stormwater and Oil Pollution Prevention 
 
 Any airport tenants, including air passenger or cargo companies, Fixed Based 

Operators (FBOs), and other parties who routinely perform industrial activities, to 
include servicing aircraft lavatories, on Airport property must comply with the 
Airport District Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). 

 
 Any user and/or operator at the airport of facilities that could possibly discharge oil 

in harmful quantities must comply with the Airport District Spill Prevention Control 
and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC). All spills must be reported to the Airport 
Operations Center and cleaned-up by the agency responsible for creating the spill. 

 
 
3.19 Fire Prevention and Inspection 
 

The most recent codes adopted by the South Carolina Buildings Code Council are 
hereby adopted by the District for the purpose of: 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item B 

 
Approval of a Budget Amendment for the General Aviation Expansion Area Site Prep 
Project 
 
BACKGROUND 

  
The General Aviation (GA) Expansion Area Site Prep Project designed by WK Dickson 
and currently under construction with Graham County Land Company (GCLC) includes 
preliminary site preparation for a portion of the future GA expansion area. The original 
construction phase budget for the project of $3,300,000 was approved as part of the 
FY2021 capital budget.  
 
ISSUES 

 
The original expansion site was planned to accommodate a taxilane capable of serving 
up to Group II aircraft (< 79’ wingspan). As planning and design for the future GA area 
as well as the future expansion of the Center Cargo Ramp area has been further 
developed, it has been determined that the airport can increase the future GA taxilane 
dimensions to accommodate aircraft up to a 100’ wingspan. Along with the wider 
taxilane, the GA hangar development sites along the north end of the expansion area 
will be able to accommodate up to 125’ deep hangars and 100’ of apron, adjacent 
roadway, utilities and landscape areas. 
 
Staff feels it is important to maximize the airport’s future flexibility and provide a future 
GA development area that can accommodate the largest aircraft and hangar sites 
possible. The original project work area should be increased to the north to 
accommodate these changes. A budget increase of $990,000 is requested to cover the 
additional engineering and construction costs for the expanded project area.  
  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item B 
Approval of a Budget Amendment for the General Aviation Expansion Area Site Prep Project 
Page 2 

  

ALTERNATIVES 

 

While not recommended at this time, the District could separately bid the additional site 
work at the conclusion of the current contract. This would require more time to 
complete the overall project and Staff feels a separate bid process would cost more 
than utilizing the current unit costs already under contract. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT 

 
The current approved project budget of $3,300,000 is partially funded with AIP 
entitlement funds under FY2020 AIP-57. A budget increase of $990,000 is requested to 
cover the increase construction phase costs with the increased project area. Staff will 
work with the FAA to apply for increasing the grant amount, but the District should be 
prepared to fund the increase should additional grants funds not be possible. 
 
The 2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project, with a remaining project budget of 
$3,553,082, was also included in the FY2021 capital budget. This project was put on 
hold due to COVID-19. The original project included a comprehensive renovation plan 
and significant changes to the office area floorplan. After meeting with current tenants 
and evaluating the current facility, Staff is proposing to reduce the project scope and 
minimize floorplan changes. The proposed new scope would include general repairs and 
refreshing the building finishes, including paint, new carpet, lighting, ceiling tile and grid 
in the offices and common areas; replacement of all restroom fixtures; and replacement 
of the building security and CCTV system. Staff is proposing a revised project budget of 
$1,553,082 for the lighter renovation project. This would free up $2,000,000 from the 
original hangar renovation project for other capital projects including the GA Expansion 
Area Site Prep Project. Under this scenario no new budget money would be required for 
to expand the GA site prep project work area. 
  
RECOMMENDED ACTION 

 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) reallocate 
$990,000 from the 2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project to the General Aviation 
Expansion Area Site Prep Project; (2) approve a revised total project budget amount of 
$4,290,000 for the General Aviation Expansion Area Site Prep Project; and (2) authorize 
the President/CEO to execute all necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E. 
 Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications  
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
 
_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – New Business Item C 

 
Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Facility 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Milliken Aviation currently leases a hangar from the Airport District (District) located at 
2108 GSP Drive and has been in that facility since relocating from the Greenville 
Downtown Airport in February 2018.  Please see Exhibit A for reference.  However, they 
are in the process of transitioning to two new aircraft with a wider wingspan and tail 
height.   Therefore, they need a facility that can accommodate the larger planes. 
 
ISSUES 

 
The District is currently in the process of negotiating two separate options with Milliken.  
The first is a lease agreement for a turnkey project to construct a new hangar and 
office facility for Milliken’s corporate aviation department.  The second option being 
negotiated is a ground lease with all of the necessary infrastructure improvements 
completed by the District (e.g. apron within thirty feet of the future hangar site, 
retaining wall, roadway, utilities, etc.).  This would leave a pad ready site for Milliken to 
construct the hangar, office, parking lot, and the apron tie-in. 
 
In either scenario, the hangar will be comprised of approximately 25,000 square feet of 
space with an adjoining office facility that’s approximately 5,000 square feet.  
Therefore, once constructed, the total facility will be about 30,000 square feet in size.  
Please see Exhibit B for reference.  
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Project 
Page 2 

  

The following are the terms for Option #1 – Turnkey Hangar & Office Facility 
Constructed by the District: 
 

1. Base & Option Terms – Not to exceed twenty (20) years. 
2. Lease Premises – +/- 100,288 square feet 
3. Lease Rate – $450,000 or $15.00 per square foot based on a 30,000 

square foot building in Year #1.  This rate is a blended rate for the hangar 
and office facilities and includes ground rent and all other site 
improvements.  Rents shall escalate annually by 3%. 

4. Contract Security – 50% of the annual lease rate. 
5. District Improvements – Hangar, office, apron, retaining wall, roadway, 

parking lot, and utilities.  
6. Lessee Improvements – None. 
7. Maintenance – Lessee shall be responsible for all maintenance of the 

Premises. 
8. Utilities – Lessee shall be responsible for the cost of all utilities and usage 

charges on the Premises. 
9. Insurance – Lessee shall be required to provide hazard insurance, liability 

insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, and employer’s liability 
insurance. 

10. Taxes and Assessments – Lessee shall be responsible. 
11. Subleasing – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to sublet 

the lease. 
12. Assignment – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to assign 

the lease. 
 
The following are the terms for Option #2 – Pad Ready Site with All Infrastructure 
Completed by the District. Hangar, Office, and Parking Lot Constructed by Milliken: 
 

1. Base & Option Terms – Not to exceed twenty (20) years. 
2. Lease Premises – +/- 100,288 square feet 
3. Lease Rate – $215,619.20 or $2.15 per square foot for the lease premises 

in Year #1.  This rate includes ground rent and all site improvements listed 
below as “District Improvements”. Rents shall escalate annually by 3%. 

4. Contract Security – 50% of the annual lease rate. 
5. District Improvements – Apron constructed within 30 feet of future 

hangar site, retaining wall, roadway, and utilities.  
6. Lessee Improvements – Hangar, office, parking lot, and apron tie-in. 
7. Maintenance – Lessee shall be responsible for all maintenance of the 

Premises. 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Project 
Page 3 

  

8. Utilities – Lessee shall be responsible for the cost of all utilities and usage 
charges on the Premises. 

9. Insurance – Lessee shall be required to provide hazard insurance, liability 
insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, and employer’s liability 
insurance. 

10. Taxes and Assessments – Lessee shall be responsible. 
11. Subleasing – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to sublet 

the lease. 
12. Assignment – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to assign 

the lease. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Airport District could forego this opportunity to construct a new hangar facility for 
Milliken or to provide all of the necessary infrastructure for a pad ready site to enable 
them to construct the building improvements and parking lot themselves. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 
The Airport District is in the process of negotiating a lease agreement with the following 
annual lease rates in Year #1 of the agreement for the two options outlined above: 
 

• Option #1: $450,000 in Year #1 
 

• Option #2: $215,619.20 in Year #1 
 
Each subsequent year throughout the term of either agreement option, the annual 
lease rate escalates by three percent (3%). 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 

 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the lease 
agreement terms for both Option #1 and Option #2 as outlined above and (2) 
authorize the President/CEO to execute a lease agreement with Milliken based on one 
of the two outlined options. 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Project 
Page 4 

  

EXHIBIT A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Proposed Hangar 

FBO 

Current Hangar 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Project 
Page 5 

  

EXHIBIT B 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  

Proposed M
illiken Hangar

 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item D 

 
Approval of General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project 
 
BACKGROUND 

 
Staff is currently negotiating a hangar project with Milliken Aviation for Site 1 at the 
General Aviation (GA) Expansion Area. Certain infrastructure items are necessary for 
development of the site, including taxilane, apron, access road, utilities and other 
related site work. These infrastructure items will be required regardless of the tenant.  
 
ISSUES 

 
Site preparation work including grading and underground storm drainage is underway 
at the site under a separate contract. Staff proposes to proceed with engineering 
immediately, followed by procurement, then begin construction as soon as the current 
contractor completes their work in this area. This will expedite the overall project and 
ready the site as soon as possible for the construction of the hangar. If the hangar 
project does not proceed, the District will have a marketable “pad ready” site to work 
with other potential hangar tenants.   
  
ALTERNATIVES 

 

The Commission may elect to not approve proceeding with the project at this time.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 
Estimated project costs for the infrastructure package and related site work is 
$2,900,000. Approval of this project requires authorization of a project budget.  
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project 
Page 2 

  

As discussed in New Business Item B, the project budget for the renovation of the 
hangar at 2102 GSP Drive is being reduced by $2,000,000, with $990,000 of that 
reduction being reallocated to the GA Expansion Area Site Prep Project. Staff proposes 
allocating the remaining $1,010,000 to the GA Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project. This 
would leave a balance of $1,890,000 in new funding to fully fund the project. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) authorize the 
General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project with a total project budget of 
$2,900,000; (2) reallocate $1,010,000 from the 2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation 
Project to the General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project; (3) approve new 
funding in the amount of $1,890,000 from current fund balance reserves and/or 
financing from the District’s revolving credit line; and (4) authorize the President/CEO to 
execute all necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item E 

 
Approval of Milliken Aviation Hangar Project Budget 
 
BACKGROUND 

 
Milliken Aviation currently leases a hangar with office space from the District at 2108 
GSP Drive. Milliken is in the process of replacing their existing aircraft with 2 new 
aircraft that will require the construction of a new hangar facility. The first new aircraft 
is expected in the first quarter of 2022 and the second aircraft in the first quarter of 
2023. District staff has been working with Milliken staff to establish a project scope and 
budget for the new hangar facility. The current proposed project includes the 
construction of a 25,000 sq ft hangar with 5,000 sq ft of attached office, parking lot and 
related site work. The estimated Milliken Aviation Hangar Project budget is $5,800,000. 
The project is expected to take 15-16 months.  
 
As the Commercial Business Department works to finalize a lease agreement with 
Milliken, it is critical to start the design and procurement process as soon as possible in 
order to have the new facility complete by April 2022. To expedite the project, Staff 
proposes to engage one of the current design teams already under a Master Services 
Agreement with the District for architectural design services. For construction of the 
hangar, Staff proposes to solicit a Construction Manager at Risk (CMR) to work 
alongside the design team while the design is completed and ultimately prepare a 
guaranteed maximum price (GMP) for construction. 
 
ISSUES 

 
Timing is critical if the District desires to complete the hangar facility for the tenant’s 
first new aircraft arriving in Q1 2022. Staff proposes to start design and procurement 
work as soon as a lease agreement is negotiated with Milliken.  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item E 
Approval of Milliken Aviation Hangar Project Budget 
Page 2 

  

ALTERNATIVES 

 

The Commission may elect to not approve proceeding with the project at this time.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 
Estimated project costs for the hangar, office, parking lot and related site work are 
$5,800,000. Approval of this project requires authorization of a project budget. These 
project costs are not eligible for grant funding. Staff proposes utilizing the District’s 
revolving credit line to fund the project. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

 

It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) authorize the 
Milliken Aviation Hangar Project pending a lease agreement with Milliken & Company; 
(2) approve a project budget of $5,800,000; (2) approve funding the project from the 
District’s revolving credit line; and (3) authorize the President/CEO to execute all 
necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item A 

 

September 2020 - Traffic Report 
 
SUMMARY 

 
While passenger traffic continues to feel the impact of COVID-19, we are experiencing 
increased activity. September 2020 passenger traffic still remains on the weaker side with 
a 64.0% decrease over the same month in 2019. However, the passenger traffic num-
bers are slightly ahead of our recovery forecasts. Cargo numbers for Septmber 2020 were 
up 87.1% for the same period. Passenger load factors were down 28.8% for the month 
at an average of 56.8%.   
 
A comparison of the North America National Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 2020 
to GSP’s Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 
 

  

Month GSP

National 

Average Difference

Jan 6.60% 4.80% 1.80%

Feb 8.50% 6.40% 2.10%

Mar -42.00% -50.40% 8.40%

April -95.80% -95.00% -0.80%

May -88.40% -88.80% 0.40%

June -78.40% -78.10% -0.30%

July -70.60% -69.90% -0.70%

August -65.90% -66.70% 0.80%

September -64.00% Data not available to date

October

November

December

Average -54.44% -54.71% 0.27%

2020



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 

Information Section Item A 
September 2020 - Traffic Report 
Page 2 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for September 2020. 
 
Providing a look forward into the service levels for December 2020 is a schedule com-
parison for the month vs the same month last year, including flights and seats by airline 
and non-stop markets served. GSP flights are down at 48.7%, and seats are down at 
53.1%.  This forward-looking schedule may not fully reflect the schedule that will be 
operated in December 2020, as airlines may not have implemented all of their potential 
schedule changes. 
 

 
 
 
Attachment 

Schedule Weekly Summary Report for nonstop Passenger (Air - All) flights from GSP to  for travel December 2020 vs. December 2019

 All flights, seats, and ASMs given are per week.

Mkt Al Orig Dest Miles Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats

AA GSP CLT 76 42 3,049 59 4,275 (17) (1,226) (28.8%) (28.7%)

AA GSP DCA 396 0 0 19 1,040 (19) (1,040) (100.0%) (100.0%)

AA GSP DFW 862 13 988 16 2,308 (3) (1,320) (18.8%) (57.2%)

AA GSP MIA 638 0 0 14 700 (14) (700) (100.0%) (100.0%)

AA GSP ORD 577 6 300 11 550 (5) (250) (45.5%) (45.5%)

AA GSP PHL 514 9 585 20 1,105 (11) (520) (55.0%) (47.1%)

DL GSP ATL 153 48 4,124 52 7,939 (4) (3,815) (7.7%) (48.1%)

DL GSP DTW 508 11 836 20 1,716 (9) (880) (45.0%) (51.3%)

DL GSP LGA 610 0 0 18 1,368 (18) (1,368) (100.0%) (100.0%)

F9 GSP DEN 1,278 0 0 2 366 (2) (366) (100.0%) (100.0%)

F9 GSP MCO 449 0 0 3 558 (3) (558) (100.0%) (100.0%)

G4 GSP FLL 620 2 354 2 354 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

G4 GSP PIE 482 2 372 2 354 0 18 0.0% 5.1%

G4 GSP SFB 426 2 342 2 354 0 (12) 0.0% (3.4%)

UA GSP DEN 1,278 0 0 7 490 (7) (490) (100.0%) (100.0%)

UA GSP EWR 594 0 0 26 1,300 (26) (1,300) (100.0%) (100.0%)

UA GSP IAD 383 12 840 21 1,250 (9) (410) (42.9%) (32.8%)

UA GSP IAH 838 7 490 13 928 (6) (438) (46.2%) (47.2%)

UA GSP ORD 577 14 780 21 1,300 (7) (520) (33.3%) (40.0%)

WN GSP ATL 153 7 1,001 20 2,892 (13) (1,891) (65.0%) (65.4%)

WN GSP BWI 425 7 1,001 7 1,001 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

TOTAL 182 15,062 355 32,148 (173) (17,086) (48.7%) (53.1%)

Travel Period Dec 2020 Dec 2019 Diff Percent Diff



Sep 2020 Sep 2019
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2020 *CYTD-2019
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2020 *MOV12-2019
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2020

Passenger Traffic
Enplaned
Deplaned

40,388
39,613

111,547
110,689

406,734 963,807
403,416 954,818

-63.8%
-64.2%

Total 80,001 222,236 -64.0% 810,150 1,918,625

-57.8%
-57.7%

-57.8%

755,971
747,790

1,290,165
1,275,509

1,503,761 2,565,674 -41.4%

-41.4%
-41.4%

Cargo Traffic (Pounds)

Express and Mail

Freight

Total

1,025,745
1,083,320

4,009,558
6,682,325

789,785
997,737

2,044,109
3,008,511

Enplaned
Deplaned

Enplaned
Deplaned

Subtotal

Subtotal

29.9%
8.6%

96.2%
122.1%

10,691,883 5,052,620 111.6%

2,109,065 1,787,522 18.0%

12,800,948 6,840,142 87.1%

7,854,540
7,199,560

29,449,531
46,462,412

8,827,999
8,692,391

24,948,605
42,377,821

10,581,498
10,351,723

38,507,393
61,295,648

11,619,900
11,536,239

35,082,370
57,486,775

-8.9%
-10.3%

9.8%
6.6%
7.8%

-9.6%

4.3%

-11.0%
-17.2%

18.0%
9.6%

12.8%

-14.1%

7.2%

75,911,943 67,326,426

15,054,100 17,520,390

90,966,043 84,846,816

99,803,041 92,569,145

20,933,221 23,156,139

120,736,332 115,725,284

Friday, October 16, 2020

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 1 of 2



Sep 2020 Sep 2019
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2020 *CYTD-2019
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2020 *MOV12-2019
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2020

Aircraft Operations
Airlines
Commuter
/Air Taxi

Subtotal
General
Aviation

Military

Subtotal

1,543 2,501

808

470 990

904

174 185

2,013

Total

3,491

982 1,089

2,995 4,580

-38.3%

-52.5%

-42.3%

-10.6%

-5.9%

-9.8%

-34.6%

14,984

4,986

1,466

21,061

9,385

1,993

28,060

12,307

2,646

22,597

8,110

2,008

-28.9%

-46.9%

-34.4%

-14.9%

-26.4%

-17.2%

-30.2%

-19.5%

-34.1%

-23.9%

-12.0%

-24.1%

-14.5%

-21.6%

19,970 30,446 30,707 40,367

6,614 7,769 9,008 10,235

8,080 9,762

28,050 40,208

11,016 12,881

41,723 53,248

Fuel Gallons
100LL
Jet A (GA)

Subtotal
Jet A (A/L)

Total

98,543
1,651

995,160

120,998
2,212

1,451,730

768,449
14,343

9,007,389

1,036,769
21,352

13,639,821

1,111,298
20,844

13,637,003

1,352,552
27,770

18,545,457

100,194 123,210 -18.7% -26.0% -18.0%782,792 1,058,121 1,132,142 1,380,322

1,095,354 1,574,940 -30.5% -33.4% -25.9%9,790,181 14,697,942 14,769,145 19,925,779

-25.4%
-18.6%

-32.8%
-25.9%

-24.9%
-17.8%

-31.5% -34.0% -26.5%

Friday, October 16, 2020

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 2 of 2



Scheduled Airline Enplanements, Seats, and 
Load Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2020

Sep 2020 Sep 2019
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2020 *CYTD-2019
Percentage

Change

3,216
3,405
4,476

Allegiant Air
Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-47.2%
-28.2%

55.9% 76.1% -26.5%

18,489
32,790

38,386
50,157

56.4% 76.5%

-51.8%
-34.6%
-26.3%

1,798

24,779
37,536
48,549

American Airlines
Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-51.3%
-49.0%

73.8% 77.3% -4.5%

158,432
254,630

322,404
422,533

62.2% 76.3%

-50.9%
-39.7%
-18.5%

18,298

24,954
39,122
46,685

Delta Air Lines
Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-71.0%
-46.5%

45.5% 83.8% -45.7%

123,552
226,835

337,868
406,006

54.5% 83.2%

-63.4%
-44.1%
-34.5%

11,353

9,918
8,855

12,473

Southwest Airlines
Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-61.1%
-20.5%

34.8% 71.0% -51.0%

39,469
115,237

78,656
112,419

34.3% 70.0%

-49.8%
2.5%

-51.0%

3,448

Friday, October 16, 2020 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Sep 2020 Sep 2019
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2020 *CYTD-2019
Percentage

Change

8,030
17,409
21,198

United Airlines
Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-69.3%
-62.1%

66.6% 82.1% -18.9%

57,506
99,993

146,890
177,502

57.5% 82.8%

-60.9%
-43.7%
-30.5%

5,345

40,242
70,897

106,327
133,381

Enplanements
Seats
Load Factor

-62.2%
-46.8%

56.8% 79.7% -28.8%

Totals
397,448
729,485

924,204
1,168,617

-57.0%
-37.6%

54.5% 79.1% -31.1%

Friday, October 16, 2020 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Monthly Enplanements By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

En
pl

an
em

en
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

2018 - 77387 - 73271 - 90110 - 91712 - 99196 - 102997 - 102982 - 104336 - 98107 - 115810 - 110261 - 100287

2019 - 90635 - 84496 - 103603 - 104473 - 115859 - 119357 - 119681 - 114156 - 111547 - 123144 - 112516 - 113577

2020 - 95938 - 91880 - 59602 - 4300 - 13476 - 25847 - 35807 - 39496 - 40388 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Friday, October 16, 2020



Monthly Seats By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

Se
at

s

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

160000

2018 - 105778 - 95882 - 106274 - 109621 - 116666 - 110425 - 117646 - 125498 - 132169 - 141432 - 135416 - 123712

2019 - 128228 - 116647 - 134261 - 130362 - 142429 - 140661 - 141804 - 140634 - 138849 - 148146 - 140238 - 138421

2020 - 139896 - 129030 - 116825 - 41119 - 42074 - 48069 - 70579 - 86686 - 71096 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Friday, October 16, 2020



Monthly Load Factors By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

Lo
ad

 F
ac

to
r

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2018 - 73.16% - 76.42% - 84.79% - 83.66% - 85.03% - 93.27% - 87.54% - 83.14% - 74.23% - 81.88% - 81.42% - 81.06%

2019 - 70.68% - 72.44% - 77.17% - 80.14% - 81.35% - 84.85% - 84.40% - 81.17% - 80.34% - 83.12% - 80.23% - 82.05%

2020 - 68.58% - 71.21% - 51.02% - 10.46% - 32.03% - 53.77% - 50.73% - 45.56% - 56.81% - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Friday, October 16, 2020



Total Monthly Passengers By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

To
ta

l P
as

se
ng

er
s

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

2018 - 154489 - 145289 - 179897 - 183012 - 196894 - 204343 - 204013 - 208316 - 194298 - 230889 - 219858 - 196302

2019 - 180437 - 168242 - 207798 - 207539 - 229849 - 234593 - 238307 - 229474 - 222236 - 246871 - 224033 - 222707

2020 - 192431 - 182882 - 120517 - 8721 - 26666 - 50809 - 69970 - 78153 - 80001 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Friday, October 16, 2020



Scheduled Airline Market Shares (Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
Report Period From September 2020 Through September 2020

4%

45%

28%

9%

13%

Allegiant Air
American Airlines
Delta Air Lines
Southwest Airlines
United Airlines

Friday, October 16, 2020



Airline Flight Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2020

Airline
Scheduled

Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Air Atlanta Icelandic 20 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Allegiant Air 18 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

American Airlines 334 0 0 0 1 99.7%1

Ameristar Jet Charter 4 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Cargo Logic Air 3 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Delta Air Lines 206 0 0 0 0 100.5%0

Delta Air Lines Charter 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Friday, October 16, 2020



Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Federal Express 38 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Interjet 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

McNeely Charter Service 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Royal Air Freight 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Southwest Airlines 66 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Swift Air, LLC 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

United Airlines 145 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

UPS 36 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

USA Jet 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Friday, October 16, 2020



Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Total 0 0 0 1878 1 99.9%

Friday, October 16, 2020



_      ____________________________________________________________ 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Basil O. Dosunmu, Senior VP of Administration & Finance/CFO 

DATE: November 23, 2020

_      ____________________________________________________________ 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem B 

September 2020 – Monthly Financial Report 

SUMMARY 

Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for September 2020. 

Operating Income was up by 3.59%  when compared to the budget for Year-to-Date 

September 2020. Operating Expenses were up by 4.29%  when compared to the 

budgeted amount for the period.  Net operating income was up by 0.92%  when 

compared to the budget through September 2020.  For the period ending September 

2020, which represents three (3) months of the fiscal year, a total of about $1.38 million 

has been returned to the bottom line in operating income. 

Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents three 
months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 

Furthermore, in September, Staff revised the monthly allocation of the annual approved 

budget to better align with current industry trends and historical practices, where 

appropriate. This is a departure from the historical practice of even distribution of the 

operating revenues and expenses throughout the year. The passenger centric operating 

revenues were adjusted to reflect the monthly passenger traffic projection, while the non-

passenger centric operating revenues were adjusted to coincide with historical practices. 

And the operating expenses are allocated based on historical spending trends.  



September 30, 2020 FI NANCI AL STATEMENT PACKAGE



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Current Month Current Month
Current FY Prior FY
9/ 30/ 2020 9/ 30/ 2019

Assets
Cash Accounts 36,237,416.81                  10,399,112.51                   

Investments-Airport 20,739,538.34                  20,379,624.42                   

Bond Trustee Assets 568,373.86                       116,215.40                       

Accounts Receivable 4,795,903.62                    5,442,886.45                    

Less: Reserve for Doubtful Accts (149,500.00)                      

Net Accounts Receivable 4,646,403.62                 5,442,886.45                  

Inventory 370,463.58                       549,514.45                       

Prepaid Insurance 615,840.30                       524,405.47                       

Notes Receivable-RAC District Funds 749,029.79                       1,022,264.93                    

Property, Plant & Equipment (PP&E) 465,442,435.39                 438,121,798.57                 

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (175,249,402.63)               (162,515,136.42)                

Net PP&E 290,193,032.76             275,606,662.15             
TOTAL ASSETS 354,120,099.06             314,040,685.78             

PLUS: Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Pension 6,339,480.05                    5,883,488.04                    

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 6,339,480.05                 5,883,488.04                  

LESS: Liabilities
Accounts Payable 7,422,180.07                    5,587,797.37                    (aa)

TD Bank LOC -                                  -                                  

Revenue Bonds Payable 906,845.90                       879,742.36                       

TD Bank LT Debt 34,877,611.97                  15,034,180.00                   

SCRS Pension Liability 21,162,824.00                  18,339,814.00                   

Benefit Liability 1,915,797.65                    1,532,539.05                    

TOTAL LI ABI LI TI ES 66,285,259.59               41,374,072.78               

LESS: Deferred I nflows of Resources
Deferred Revenues 933,921.79                       1,152,724.93                    

TOTAL DEFERRED I NFLOWS OF RESOURCES 933,921.79                    1,152,724.93                  

NET POSI TI ON
Invested in Capital Assets, net of Related Debt 253,701,391.00                 258,685,217.22                 

Restricted:

A/P - Capital Projects - Restricted 526,527.96                       101,473.04                       

Contract Facility Charge 2,391,374.58                    2,261,214.96                    

Total Restricted: 2,917,902.54                    2,362,688.00                    

Unrestricted 36,621,104.19                  16,199,970.89                   

TOTAL NET POSI TI ON 293,240,397.73             277,247,876.11             

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

REVENUES AND EXPENSES TREND GRAPHS

$1.3

$1.8

$2.3

$2.8

$3.3

$3.8

$4.3

$4.8

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s

CY Historical Operating Revenues
(by Month by Year)

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

$4.5

$5.0

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s

CY Historical Operating Expenses
(by Month by Year)

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

PROFIT and LOSS STATEMENT

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2020

Actual Budget Actual -  Budget %  Change

I NCOME

Landing Area:

Landing Fees 458,149.83                          255,660.44                          202,489.39                          79.20% (a)

Aircraft Parking Fees 82,699.69                            42,440.76                            40,258.93                            94.86% (b)

Subtotal Landing Area 540,849.52                          298,101.20                          242,748.32                          81.43%

Space & Ground Rentals 2,480,105.26                       2,433,646.50                       46,458.76                            1.91%

Auto Parking 1,039,227.64                       1,132,750.46                       (93,522.82)                          -8.26% (c)

Commercial Ground Transportation 45,188.84                            36,354.10                            8,834.74                             24.30%

Concessions:

Advertising 71,742.50                            44,831.81                            26,910.69                            60.03%

Food & Beverage 34,209.90                            65,894.93                            (31,685.03)                          -48.08%

Rental Car 485,142.03                          379,237.36                          105,904.67                          27.93% (d)

Retail 95,500.88                            64,277.60                            31,223.28                            48.58%

Other 5,858.02                             3,645.18                             2,212.84                             60.71%

Subtotal Concessions 692,453.33                          557,886.88                          134,566.45                          24.12%

Expense Reimbursements 399,231.81                          477,774.21                          (78,542.40)                          -16.44% (e)

Other Income 36,909.67                            30,021.44                            6,888.23                             22.94%

Other-Aviation Services 723,517.53                          542,194.62                          181,322.91                          33.44% (f)

Gross Profit on Fuel Sales 859,337.90                          1,071,700.33                       (212,362.43)                         -19.82% (g)

Total Operating I ncome 6,816,821.50                     6,580,429.74                     236,391.76                        3.59%

EXPENSES
Salary & Benefits 3,465,114.05                       3,185,351.31                       279,762.74                          8.78% (h)

Professional Services 139,415.90                          140,993.12                          (1,577.22)                            -1.12%

Promotional Activities 19,381.66                            163,052.95                          (143,671.29)                         -88.11% (i)

Administrative 144,811.22                          270,126.47                          (125,315.25)                         -46.39% (j)

Insurance 197,663.04                          197,788.04                          (125.00)                               -0.06%

Contractual Services 872,789.20                          527,662.64                          345,126.56                          65.41% (k)

Rentals & Leases 71,401.50                            55,105.42                            16,296.08                            29.57%

Repairs & Maintenance 142,085.98                          23,623.83                            118,462.15                          501.45% (l)

Supplies & Equipment 179,889.35                          148,218.54                          31,670.81                            21.37%

Utilities 200,383.27                          497,277.88                          (296,894.61)                         -59.70% (m)

Total Operating Expenses 5,432,935.17                     5,209,200.20                     223,734.97                        4.29%

NET OPERATI NG I NCOME 1,383,886.33         1,371,229.54         12,656.79              0.92%

< --------------------------   FI SCAL YEAR TO DATE  ------------------------------->

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



September 30, 2020

(aa) Accounts Payable 7,422,180.07         Consists of the following:

2,650,000         Retainage accrual, to carry until the end of each contract

2,770,000         Trade A/P, varies monthly

1,268,000         Year End Payroll, Vacation & Sick Benefits accrual, to carry until end of fiscal year

485,000            Security Deposits

300,000            RAC true-ups, to pay out after receipt of RAC audits

(51,000)             Other

7,422,000         

(a) Landing Fees OVER BUDGET $202,489.39  - Passenger traffic are trending slightly higher than anticipated hence

   - American Airlines 37K over budget 

   - Delta Airlines 53K over budget

   - Allegiant Airlines 11K over budget

   - Southwest Airlines 28K over budget

   - FedEx 11K over budget

   - UPS 16K over budget

   - Senator 31K over budget, budgeted 4 flights but averaging 6 flights per week

(b) Aircraft Parking Fees OVER BUDGET $40,258.93  - Cargo parking 24K over budget

 - Commercial Aviation parking 10K over budget

(c) Auto Parking UNDER BUDGET $93,522.82  - Since most passenger travel is leisure parking revenue is 112K under budget 

 - Employee Parking 18K over budget 

(d) Rental Car OVER BUDGET $105,904.67  - Passenger traffic are trending slightly higher than anticipated hence

Actual YTD Budget YTD Diff

AVIS 61,639              70,680              (9,041)              

Budget 64,023              43,193              20,830              

E/A 114,766            72,643              42,123              

Hertz 103,037            74,607              28,431              

National 141,676            117,800            23,876              

GA 314                  (314)                 

TOTAL 485,142            379,237            105,905            

(e) Expense Reimbursements UNDER BUDGET $78,542.40  - Expense Reimbursements 78K under budget

STATEMENT OF NET POSI TI ON - CURRENT YTD ACTUAL FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

PROFI T & LOSS STATEMENT -YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



September 30, 2020

(f) Other-Aviation Services OVER BUDGET $181,322.91  - Warehouse fess 178K over budget 

 - Reimbursement Service Program 25K under budget

 - A/C Ground Handling-Pax 12K under budget

 - Ground A/C Handling Cargo 43K over budget

(g) Gross Profit on Fuel Sales UNDER BUDGET $212,362.43  - Jet A Into-Plane 149K under budget

 - DOD Into-Plane Fees 12K over budget 

 - Retail Jet A Sales 238K under budget 

 - Retail AvGas Sales 9K under budget 

 - Throughput Fees 31K under budget 

 - COGS Jet A-GA 205K over budget 

(h) Salary & Benefits OVER BUDGET $279,762.74 Salaries and Benefits is over budget due to the following

 - Monthly pension liability accrual 136K 

(i) Promotional Activities UNDER BUDGET $143,671.29 Promotional Activit ies is under budget due to the following 

 - Advertising expense 79K under budget

 - General marketing expenses 48K under budget

(j) Administrative UNDER BUDGET $125,315.25 Administrative is under budget due to the following 

 - Corporate Function 23K under budget

 - Credit Card Processing 15K under budget

 - Uniforms 17K under budget

 - Travel/Tuit ion 53K under budget

 - Dues & Subscriptions 12K under budget

(k) Contractual Services OVER BUDGET $345,126.56 Contractual Services is over budget due to certain annual renewals and to the following 

 - Parking Management agreement expenses 41K under budget 

 - Centralized Receiving & Distribution Facility 75K under budget 

 - Janitorial Services 43K over budget

 - Computer-annual contracts 360K over budget

 - Elevator & Escalator 70K over budget

 - Generator 19K over budget

 - Telephone Equip 13K under budget

 - Reimbursement Service Program 15K under budget

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



September 30, 2020

(l) Repairs & Maintenance OVER BUDGET $118,462.15 Repair & Maintenance is over budget due partly to approx. 41K in emergency needs

and to the following

 - Boarding Bridges 21K over budget

 - Equipment 22K over budget

 - Vehicles 16K over budget 

 - Fuel Truck 17K over budget 

 - Project Unanticipated 15K over budget

(m) Utilities UNDER BUDGET $296,894.61 Utilit ies is under budget due to a 45 day lag in billings

 - Gas 59K under budget

 - Electric 182K under budget

 - Water & Sewer 52K under budget

Note: Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents

three months of activity, result ing in variances which can be quite volatile.

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Other Operating and Maintenance Reserve Funds

FY $ Amount Estimated $ Amount
Authorized Cost Date Used YTD

Emergency Repair/ Replacement/ Operations Fund 500,000$            

TW L3 Pavement Failure 10,000$                

Stormwater Pipe at Pond # 6 10,000$                

2,028$                 8/13/2020 2,028$              Herc Rentals

Fire Truck 10,433$                8/13/2020 10,433$            Engine & Accessory

Security System 9,520$                 7/30/2020 9,520$              Convergint Technologies

Canopy System 13,798$                9/30/2020 13,798$            Hubner Manufacturing Corp

Asphalt Patching on taxiway 2,000$                 9/9/2020 2,000$              TMS Asphalt Specialties, LLC

Ford Escape 3,559$                 9/10/2020 3,559$              Nichols Sandblasting & Painting

57,779$              41,337$           

Uncommitted Balance 442,221$            

Business Development Obligations/ I ncentives 500,000$            

-$                    -$                 

Uncommitted Balance 500,000$            

Contingency Fund 1,000,000$         

-$                    -$                 

Uncommitted Balance 1,000,000$         

I nterim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



I nitial Maturity I nterest Cost Basis or EOM

Purchase Date Rate BOY FMV Par FMV

US Treasury

Note 10/7/2019 10/31/2020 1.750% 1,602,848.00           1,600,000.00           1,602,144.00             

Bill 6/ 4/2020 11/19/2020 0.000% 899,466.46              900,000.00              899,892.00                

Bill 5/ 28/2020 11/30/2020 0.000% 1,249,192.46           1,250,000.00           1,249,812.50             

Note 10/7/2019 11/30/2020 1.625% 1,600,944.00           1,600,000.00           1,603,968.00             

Note 1/28/2019 12/31/2020 2.375% 1,346,287.50           1,350,000.00           1,357,519.50             

Bill 8/ 4/2020 2/25/2021 0.000% 1,999,110.66           2,000,000.00           1,999,180.00             

Note 12/23/2019 3/31/2021 2.250% 1,512,210.00           1,500,000.00           1,515,990.00             

Bond 8/4/2020 4/5/2021 2.540% 1,016,319.60           1,000,000.00           1,012,190.00             

Note 1/7/2020 6/30/2021 1.625% 1,401,880.37           1,400,000.00           1,415,638.00             

Note 2/19/2020 7/31/2021 1.750% 1,506,405.00           1,500,000.00           1,520,220.00             

Note 8/4/2020 1/13/2022 2.375% 336,555.44              326,000.00              335,411.62                

Note 5/28/2020 1/28/2022 1.550% 1,278,014.35           1,250,000.00           1,273,062.50             

Note 6/4/2020 3/30/2022 1.950% 928,251.73              900,000.00              924,246.00                

Note 8/3/2020 4/8/2022 3.750% 1,084,287.35           1,080,000.00           1,083,380.40             

Subt ot al-UST 17 ,761 ,772 .92     17 ,656 ,000 .00     17 ,792 ,654 .52$      

Money Market  Fund Balance ( m at u red UST) 2 ,946 ,883 .82$        

20 ,739 ,538 .34$      

*  These notes were initially purchased in 9/2018 with a par of $1M.  In 1/2019, additional notes were purchased from

   the same issuances.

Weighted blended 

yield =  

1.5824%

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District
September 30, 2020

Tot al  I nvest m ent  Balance

US Treasury Investment Types T-Bill T-Note T-Bond Fed Ag

  Negotiable Debt Obligation Yes Yes Yes Yes

  Backed by Gov Full Faith/Credit Yes Yes Yes No

  Maturity < 1 yr 1-7 yrs 7+ yrs 1-5 yrs

  Coupon-Bearing No Yes Yes Yes

  Interest is paid at Maturity Semi-Ann Semi-Ann Semi-Ann

  State & Local Tax Exemption Yes Yes Yes Only FHLB (*)

   (*) Note: Since GSP is a political subdivision of SC, w e are tax-exempt from all taxes, including state and local.

Interim Report:  Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDI TED



Procurement /  Capital Acquisitions

Project/ I tem Description Date

Monthly $ 

Amount

Capital I mprovements:
Rodgers Builders /  Surface Parking Planning/Progr 9/30/2020 1,559,071            

WK Dickson /  ARFF Station 9/30/2020 39,455                 

Mavin Construction /  ARFF Station 9/30/2020 680,621               

NafeCo Inc /  ARFF Station 9/23/2020 71,402                 

Graham County Land Co /  GA Hangar Site Prep Design Phase 9/14/2020 116,125               

WK Dickson /  GA Hangar Site Prep Design Phase 9/30/2020 31,983                 

S&Me, Inc. /  Airfield Improvement Program Ph 1 - Design 9/23/2020 10,185                 

Kimley Horn & Associates /  Airfield Improvement Program Ph 1 - Desig 9/23/2020 62,333                 

Equipment and Small Capital Outlays:

Renewals and Replacements:
Bio-Nomic Services Inc. /  Sewer Line Repairs 9/30/2020 15,750                 

Schindler Elevator Corp /  Great Hall Modernization & Elevator 9/22/2020 27,476                 

Hi-Lite Airfield Services LLC /  Airfield Pavement Flaking Markings 9/30/2020 24,048                 

Hi-Lite Airfield Services LLC /  Airfield Pavement Flaking Markings 9/30/2020 20,548                 

Professional Service Projects:

Total Procurements/ Capital Additions for the month 2,658,997$        

9/ 30/ 2020



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item C 
 
October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report  
 
SUMMARY 
 
Parking Garage C & CONRAC Facility: 
 
Status – On Hold 
Project Budget – $2,300,000 (Design Phase); $75,000,000 (Construction Phase) 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes the design and construction of a new combined public parking and 
rental car ready/return garage. The design team is led by LS3P and is currently working 
on wrapping up the final construction documents. The advance package for the 
roadways and utilities enabling work is under contract with Rodgers Builders, Inc. along 
with the Surface Parking Expansion Program. Metromont Corporation is under contract 
for precast design/build services. Metromont’s contract will ultimately be assigned to 
the construction manager selected for the garage. The RFQ/RFP process was started 
prior to the COVID pandemic and three firms were shortlisted for the Construction 
Manager as Constructor contract. Due to the COVID-19 impacts on the airport and the 
travel industry, the RFQ/RFP process has been stopped and the project is on hold until 
traffic and revenue return to an acceptable level. 
 
Parking Garage C & CONRAC Facility Enabling Project – Roadways & Utilities: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget – $2,700,000 
Estimated Completion Date – January 2021 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 2 

 

The Commission approved a $2,700,000 budget for enabling work on the Parking 
Garage C & CONRAC Facility Project. The Enabling Project includes roadway and utilities 
work necessary to start the Parking Garage C Project. Rodgers Builders, Inc. is under 
contract for the enabling work and the work is being completed simultaneously with the 
Surface Parking Program. Roadway and general site grading work continues along GSP 
Drive.   
 
2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project: 
 
Status – On Hold 
Project Budget – $3,675,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes the renovation of the hangar located at 2102 GSP Drive adjacent 
to the FBO Terminal. The hangar was in a serious state of disrepair after the transition 
from Stevens Aviation to GSP/Cerulean Aviation. The interior hangar ceiling was 
repainted, and the fire alarm system and roof were already replaced. Additional 
renovation items include demo and renovation of the tenant office suites, restroom 
upgrades, upgrade/replacement of the electrical system and HVAC equipment, new tool 
room/shop space for corporate flight departments, circulation space, stairs and egress 
accommodations, exterior paint, doors and hardware replacement, and integration to 
the GSP campus access control and CCTV systems. Project design is led by DP3, the 
architecture teaming member under the WKD on-call agreement.  Design is complete. 
This project is on hold due to COVID financial impacts.    
 
Surface Parking Lot Expansion Program: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget – $16,700,000 
Estimated Completion Date – January 2021 
 
The Parking Garage C and CONRAC Facility Project will impact the existing Daily Surface 
Parking Lot and the Employee Parking Lot. Based on the planning and programming 
presented to the Commission in January 2019, the Surface Parking Expansion Program 
was approved with a budget of $16,700,000. 
 
This program includes a new 1,500 stall parking lot for public economy parking with an 
associated access road and a roundabout on Aviation Parkway. The program also 
includes a new approximately 600 stall Employee Parking Lot and TNC Staging Area on 
GSP Drive. Kimley-Horn is leading the design and engineering work. Rodgers Builders, 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 3 

 

Inc. is under contract as the Design-Assist contractor for the program. Work is 
underway at the new Employee Parking Lot and the new Economy Lot sites 
simultaneously. Current work items include paving, landscaping, and stone cladding at 
the new Economy B entrance/exit.  
 
Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting (ARFF) Station: 
 
Status – Close Out Phase 
Project Budget – $11,750,000 
Estimated Completion Date – November 2020 
 
This project includes construction of a new ARFF station to be located adjacent to the 
PSA Hangar at 2100 GSP Drive. Design and engineering were delivered under the WK 
Dickson on-call contract. Architectural design was led by Leo-Daly and supported by 
DP3 and other sub consultants. Mavin Construction is the general contractor for the 
project. This project is substantially complete. The Fire Department has moved into the 
new facility. The contractor is working on project close out.  
 
FBO Expansion Project: 
 
Status – On Hold 
Project Budget – TBD 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
The FY20 planning and programming task for this project led by McFarland Johnson is 
complete. The design phase has been put on hold due to COVID-19 impacts.   
 
Facilities Department Building Expansion Project: 
 
Status – On Hold 
Project Budget – TBD 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
The FY20 planning and programming task for this project led by McFarland Johnson is 
complete. The design phase has been put on hold due to COVID-19 impacts. 
 
Aviation Parkway Rehabilitation: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget - $1,500,000 
Estimated Completion Date – December 2020 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 4 

 

 
The pavement rehabilitation for Aviation Parkway is a budgeted FY20 capital project. 
This project was included in the Rodgers Builders, Inc. design assist scope and GMP 
pricing package due to similarities in scope with the parking lot and other roadway 
work. Combining these packages allows the District to secure the most economical 
pricing with larger quantities of asphalt, etc. The Aviation Parkway rehab is scheduled 
to be completed in December. Paving work is underway. 
 
Terminal Area Planning Study: 
 
Status - Planning Phase 
Project Budget - $400,000 
Estimated Completion Date – December 2020 
 
This project is led by McFarland Johnson and includes the planning and programming 
phase for the next phase of terminal expansion. The scope of work includes facility 
programming, phasing, budget and conceptual layout planning. 
 
Fuel Farm Expansion Project: 
 
Status – On Hold 
Project Budget - TBD 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
The FY20 capital budget included the design phase for the next phase of the fuel farm 
expansion. Staff is working with Kimley-Horn to prepare an RFP for Design-Build 
services. The project is on hold due to COVID-19 impacts. 
 
Runway Safety Area Grade Corrections Project: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget - $300,000 
Estimated Completion Date – December 2020 
 
This project includes grade corrections inside the runway safety area (RSA) of RW 4/22 
near TW G and at either end. WK Dickson led the engineering work for this project. 
Graham County Land Development is the contractor. Construction is expected to be 
completed by winter 2020. Grading work is almost complete. 
 
  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
October 2020 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 5 

 

General Aviation Expansion Project: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget - $400,000 (Design Phase); $3,250,000 (Construction Phase) 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes site prep to expand the general aviation (GA) area north of the 
newest bulk aircraft hangar. WK Dickson led the engineering work for this project. 
Graham County Land Development is the contractor. The original scope of work is being 
modified to accommodate a larger taxilane for the future GA expansion area. 
 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Tom Tyra, Director, Communications & Air Service Development 

  

DATE: November 2, 2020 

____________________________________________________________ 
 
I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem D 
 

October 2020 – Communications Status Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

News Stories ~  Broadcast, Print and Online 10/ 01/ 20 through 10/ 31/ 20: 
 
General Airport Updates 
10 at the Top Editorial:  GSP Response to COVID-19 

SC Biz Magazine: Recovery faster for general aviation than commercial airports 

Stuck At The Airport:  How I t Started Meme 

Moody’s Investor Service: Announcement of Periodic Review 

Back to Boring Travel Blog: GSP-ATL-MCO 

FSElite: Verticalism Releases Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Rebooted for XPL 

 
Parking and Roadway Construction 
GSA Business Report:  GSP Opens Additional Parking Options 

Fox Carolina: Economy Lot B Reopens 

Fox Carolina: GSP opens additional parking in preparation for holiday travel 

Greer Today: GSP reopens economy parking lot B for $7 a day  

 
Pilot Furloughs 
WYFF: Pilot Furloughs 

 
GSP to HOU 
WSPA: New Flight to HOU 

AAE Aviation News Today: Southwest announced plans to offer new nonstop service 

Upstate Business Journal:  Southwest Airlines adds nonstop service to Houston 

 

https://www.tenatthetop.org/greenville-spartanburg-international-airport-gsp-response-to-covid-19-with-scott-carr/
https://scbiznews.com/scbiz-magazine/?utm_term=Check%20out%20the%20latest%20issue%20of%20SCBIZ%20magazine%3A&utm_campaign=SCBIZ%20Daily%20for%20Oct.%207%2C%202020&utm_content=email&utm_source=Act-On+Software&utm_medium=email
https://stuckattheairport.com/2020/10/08/see-how-airports-are-embracing-the-how-it-started-meme/
https://www.moodys.com/research/Moodys-announces-completion-of-a-periodic-review-of-ratings-of--PR_906727642?cid=7QFRKQSZE021
http://kindaboringtravel.com/2020/10/25/back-to-boring-gsp-atl-mco-delta-717-and-757-economy-review/
https://fselite.net/news/verticalsim-releases-greenville-spartanburg-airport-rebooted-for-xpl/
https://news.scbiznews.com/acton/rif/41559/s-0dd9-2010/-/l-0002:41ca/q-0018/showPreparedMessage?utm_term=Click%20here&utm_campaign=Fifth-Third%20Bank%20opens%20%22next%20gen%22%20retail%20branches%2C%20SCC%20starts%20first%20S.C.%20injection%20molding%20program%2C%20GSP%20parking&utm_content=email&utm_source=Act-On+Software&utm_medium=email&sid=TV2:V9eWgCUpC
https://mms.tveyes.com/transcript.asp?StationID=2730&DateTime=10%2f1%2f2020+5%3a49%3a16+PM&PlayClip=true
https://www.foxcarolina.com/news/gsp-opens-additional-parking-in-preparation-for-increased-holiday-travel/article_f76783a0-03f0-11eb-83b5-a792cde2d833.html
http://greertoday.com/greer-sc/gsp-reopens-economy-parking-lot-b-for-7-a-day/2020/10/02/
https://mms.tveyes.com/Transcript.asp?StationID=2725&DateTime=10%2F1%2F2020+5%3A32%3A59+AM&Term=Greenville+Spartanburg+International+Airport&PlayClip=TRUE
https://mms.tveyes.com/Transcript.asp?StationID=2720&DateTime=10%2F1%2F2020+6%3A44%3A33+AM&Term=GSP+International+Airport&PlayClip=TRUE
https://aaae.informz.net/informzdataservice/onlineversion/ind/bWFpbGluZ2luc3RhbmNlaWQ9OTYxNTU0OCZzdWJzY3JpYmVyaWQ9MTA2MjQ5Njg2MQ==
https://upstatebusinessjournal.com/aerospace/southwest-airlines-adds-nonstop-service-to-houston-from-gsp-airport/


 

 

 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

October 2020 - Communications Status Report 

Page 2 

  

Online Store 
Airport Business Magazine: GSP Offers New Online Store  

 

K9 Training 
Greenville Journal:  TSA discovered 6 guns at GSP checkpoints last month 

 

Upstate SC News 
Spartanburg Herald: Former GSP Spokesperson to be Part of Spotlight on Cancer 

Street Insider:  SSC Adding Fuel Farm at Greenville Downtown Airport 

Supply Chain Drive: How BMW turned Spartanburg into a supply chain hub 

Upstate Business Journal:  VisitGreenvilleSC CEO to retire at end of year 

 

New Shopping Kiosks 
WYFF: GSP Expands Automated Retail Program 

Airport Improvement Magazine: GSP Expands Shopping Choices with New Kiosks 

Aviation Pro: GSP Expands Shopping Choices with New Vending Kiosks 

WYFF: GSP has added six new kiosks 

Kiosk Marketplace: Prepango to offer travel items in vending machines at GSP 

Airport Business Magazine newsletter:  GSP Expands Shopping Choices 

 

 
Reach of GSP Media Appearing on National Social Networks 
Twitter:   283,120  Facebook:  153,010 

 
 
Airport Digital and Social Media 10/ 01/ 20-10/ 31/ 20:  
 
Website 
Sessions – 44,410 

New Users – 31,411 

Page/Session – 1.66 

Average Session Duration – 1:23 

Page Views – 73,901 

 

Facebook  
Total followers – 12,560 

New followers – 91 

Page Reach – 455,200 

Post Reach (Paid) — 400,692 

Post Reach (Organic) — 15,410 

https://www.nxtbook.com/endeavor/airportbusiness/october2020/index.php#/p/12
https://greenvillejournal.com/news/a-new-class-of-dogs-join-greenville-countys-explosive-detection-k-9-team/
https://www.greenvilleonline.com/story/news/local/2020/10/12/former-gsp-spokesperson-help-put-spotlight-metastatic-breast-cancer/5967216002/
https://www.streetinsider.com/Press+Advantage/SSC+Adding+Fuel+Farm+at+Greenville+Downtown+Airport+as+Part+of+their+Future+FBO/17465288.html
https://www.supplychaindive.com/news/logistics-BMW-upstate-south-carolina-supply-chain-hub/587246/
https://upstatebusinessjournal.com/featured/visitgreenvillesc-ceo-chris-stone-to-retire-at-end-of-year/
https://mms.tveyes.com/Transcript.asp?StationID=2725&DateTime=10%2F19%2F2020+11%3A12%3A21+PM&Term=Greenville+Spartanburg+International+Airport&PlayClip=TRUE
https://airportimprovement.com/news/gsp-expands-shopping-choices-new-vending-kiosks
https://www.aviationpros.com/airports/press-release/21158982/greenvillespartanburg-international-airport-gsp-gsp-expands-shopping-choices-with-new-vending-kiosks
https://mms.tveyes.com/Transcript.asp?StationID=2725&DateTime=10%2F20%2F2020+4%3A50%3A35+AM&Term=Greenville+Spartanburg+International+Airport&PlayClip=TRUE
https://www.kioskmarketplace.com/news/prepango-to-offer-travel-items-in-vending-machines-at-greenvillespartanburg-airport/
https://endeavor.omeclk.com/portal/public/ViewCommInBrowser.jsp?2I8xi3TTdj%2F1T3T8q2NWmjDHbBWdnH8%2FAmsUwZvcOkTbRi%2BZZ6Ly0G3H0J8Od6NJDaQIQViasrpcKOHCen8g%2Fw%3D%3DA


 

 

 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

October 2020 - Communications Status Report 

Page 3 

  

Post Engagements – 37,153 

 

I nstagram 
Total Reach – 57,472 

Total Impressions – 111,804 

Followers – 2,169 

New followers – 22 

 

Twitter 

Impressions – 14,500 

Visits – 258 

Followers – 6,493 

New followers – 11 

Mentions – 50 

 

Top Performing Social Media Posts 

    
 

 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications 
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item E 
 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Southwest Airport – Nonstop HOU Marketing Campaign: 
 
Status – Media buys completed and currently running ads to promote the new route. 
Project Budget – $100,000 
Completion Date – February 28, 2021 
 
In October 2020, Southwest Airlines announced new nonstop service to HOU.  This 
service provides travelers with better connections to cities throughout Texas, the western 
U.S., as well as the Caribbean and Mexico.  This marketing campaign will help educate 
the traveling public that the new nonstop flight is available on Southwest. 
 
New ARFF Station – Ribbon Cutting: 
 
Status – All preplanning for the event has been completed. 
Project Budget – $500 
Completion Date – November 23, 2020 
 
To celebrate the opening of the new Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting (ARFF) station, the 
Airport District will hold a ribbon cutting event after the Airport Commission meeting on 
November 23, 2020. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 2 

  

Website Project: 
 
Status – The Communications Department team has completed an outline of the new 
website pages and they are currently being reviewed internally prior to development. 
Project Budget – $75,000 
Estimated Completion Date – April 30, 2021 
 
The Airport District is creating a new website to provide a better browsing experience for 
visitors.  The new website will also incorporate increased functionality, ensure compliance 
with all ADA and security requirements, as well as incorporate the GSP360 website within 
it. 
 
Podcast Series: 
 
Status – Presently working on podcast content and schedule. 
Project Budget – $1,000 
Estimated Completion Date – January 31, 2021 
 
The Communications Department is launching an ongoing podcast series.  The topics will 
vary but will include travel related information such as new nonstop destinations from 
GSP, discussions about economic development and the Airport District’s land 
development program, highlighting the role of different Airport District departments, etc.  
In addition, external guests may be invited to participate too to discuss tourism 
throughout the region as well as other topics related to GSP and its travelers. 
 
GSP360 – Land Development Program Video: 
 
Status – Draft video completed inhouse by Communications Department staff and is 
presently being reviewed. 
Project Budget – $250 
Estimated Completion Date – December 16, 2020 
 
The Airport District is developing a video to highlight the GSP360 land development 
program.  The video will be used for business development purposes with prospective 
tenants. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 3 

  

Bon Secours Wellness Arena Rebranding: 
 
Status – Project on hold due to budget constraints related to COVID-19. 
Project Budget – $15,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
The Airport District has an advertising/marketing agreement with the Bon Secours 
Wellness Arena.  As a part of that agreement, we have the branding rights to the ticket 
office.  The current branding is over four years old and in need of a refresh. 
 
Children’s Play Area Alcove Project: 
 
Status – Project on hold due to budget constraints related to COVID-19. 
Project Budget – All installation costs will be covered by Plus-Plus USA 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD  
 
During the terminal building renovation project, two alcoves were developed in the Grand 
Hall.  Based on past direction from the Airport Commission, one will be for a children’s 
play area and another will be for an airport history alcove.  The children’s play area 
alcove will be located on the Concourse A side of the Grand Hall. 
 
History Alcove Project: 
 
Status – Project on hold due to budget constraints related to COVID-19. 
Project Budget – $150,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
During the terminal building renovation project, two alcoves were developed in the Grand 
Hall.  Based on past direction from the Airport Commission, one will be for a children’s 
play area and another will be for an airport history alcove.  The history alcove will be 
located on the Concourse B side of the Grand Hall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 4 

  

Automated Retail Vending Kiosks: 
 
Status – Zoom Systems kiosks were removed and Prepango is in the process of installing 
their kiosks in the terminal building and rental car facilities. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Prepango. 
Completion Date – November 30, 2020 
 
In August 2020, the Airport District issued an automated retail vending RFP.  The Airport 
Commission approved the ranking of the two proposers.  Staff finalized an agreement 
with Prepango, who was the top ranked proposer.  They will operate eight kiosk locations 
located on Concourse A, Concourse B, and in the rental car facilities.  The kiosks will 
provide travel related accessories, cosmetics, and PPE related items for sale. 
 
 
Jabbrbox Conference/Workspace Booths: 
 
Status – Agreement fully executed by both parties. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Jabbrbox. 
Completion Date – February 28, 2021 
 
In October 2020, the Airport District came to an agreement with Jabbrbox to install four 
of their conference/workspace booths between Concourse A and Concourse B.  These 
booths are technology equipped workspaces to provide business travelers with a place to 
conduct video conference calls, have a quiet environment to work, etc.  They are 
presently located in airports at Boston, Minneapolis, Las Vegas, Los Angeles, San 
Francisco, Seattle, and Washington DC.  Internationally, they have airport locations in 
London, Hong Kong, Seoul, and Sydney.  GSP will be there smallest airport location to 
date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 5 

  

Food Beverage & Retail Concessions: 
 
Status – Metz is planning to open Chick-fil-A in November 2020. 
Project Budget – Currently working with Metz to finalize their annual operating budget. 
Completion Date – November 30, 2021 
 
In August 2020, the Airport District issued a food and beverage management and 
operating services RFP.  The Airport Commission approved the rankings of the top four 
proposers.  Staff is diligently working with the top ranked proposer, Metz Culinary 
Management, who will operate Chick-fil-A, The Kitchen by Wolfgang Puck, a soon to be 
announced fast casual concept to replace DC3 Hot Dogs, Thomas Creek Grill, and R.J. 
Rockers Flight Room. 
 
SB Acquisitions – Tract A Development Site: 
 
Status – The Airport District provided plan review comments on May 27, 2020.  Awaiting 
revised plans for review, comment, and final approval. 
Project Budget – All development costs are being covered by SB Acquisitions. 
Completion Date – TBD 
 
On November 25, 2019, the Airport District approved an initial 20-year lease with two 
five-year option periods for approximately 43 acres of land on Tract A.  The lease 
agreement was fully executed by both parties on January 25, 2020.  The site will be for 
light manufacturing and assembly for after market vehicles modifications as well as 
vehicle parking. 
 
AT&T Network Infrastructure Expansion Project – GSP International Logistics 
Park 
 
Status – Awaiting AT&T drawings for review based on site visit on November 5, 2020.  
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
AT&T placed network infrastructure along GSP International Logistics Parkway in the GSP 
International Logistics Park. They are now requesting to expand that infrastructure along 
Global Commerce Drive to meet new customer orders for service.  
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 6 

  

Charter Network Infrastructure Expansion Project – GSP International 
Logistics Park 
 
Status – Awaiting Charter as-built drawings from the last project. Those must be received, 
reviewed, and approved prior to commencing the next phase of the project.  
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Charter. 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
In late 2019, Charter installed their network infrastructure along GSP International 
Logistics Parkway and Global Commerce Drive in the GSP International Logistics Park.  
Based on a customer request for service, this network infrastructure needs to be 
expanded to another leasehold site located along Global Commerce Drive. 
  
FedEx – AT&T Network Fiber Extension Project: 
 
Status – AT&T’s contractor expects to start the project the first week after Thanksgiving. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 
Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2020 
 
FedEx was requesting to install a backup cellular system for their local data network to 
provide redundancy if their wired data connection was interrupted.  This project was 
canceled and replaced by a fiber installation project that extended fiber from SR 101 
down Gateway Drive to the FedEx leasehold. 
 
T-Mobile Signal Strength & Data Transfer Speed Enhancement Project: 
 
Status – T-Mobile is reevaluating this project based on their announced merger with 
Sprint.  Sprint already has a cell phone tower on Parking Garage A. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by T-Mobile. 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
T-Mobile has received customer service complaints regarding their signal strength for 
their wireless customers while at the airport.  They are presently evaluating the current 
signal strength.  Subsequently they will evaluate options to determine the best corrective 
action to boost that signal strength and data transfer speeds around the airport campus. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
October 2020 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 7 

  

Google Street & Terminal Mapping Project: 
 
Status – Google has uploaded all of the imaging captured to their website. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Google. 
Completion Date – October 31, 2020 
 
Google has an interior mapping program for public facilities as well as a street view 
mapping program.  To assist users of the airport by providing a 360-degree view of public 
areas of the airport, Google has selected GSP for inclusion into both programs.  Once 
complete, you will be able to see views of the inside of the terminal building and the 
streets leading up to it when you utilize Google Maps. 
 
Delta Air Lines – Gate Information Display System (GIDS) Project: 
 
Status – Delta is presently doing a test of their software integration with the Amadeus 
software at MIA.  If successful, this will be rolled out next at GSP.  
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Delta Air Lines. 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
In order to enhance the overall passenger experience, the Airport District has been 
encouraging Delta Air Lines to provide their proprietary GIDS to our mutual customers at 
GSP.  This will provide detailed flight information, standby and cleared list passenger 
information, etc. in the same format that the Delta passengers are accustomed to seeing 
at other airports and will replace the current default GIDS that only provides basic flight 
information. 
 
Southwest Airlines – Gate Information Display System (GIDS) Project: 
 
Status – Project on hold by Southwest due to budget constraints related to COVID-19. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Southwest Airlines. 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
In order to enhance the overall passenger experience, the Airport District has been 
encouraging Southwest Airlines to provide their proprietary GIDS to our mutual 
customers at GSP.  This will provide detailed flight information, standby and cleared list 
passenger information, etc. in the same format that the Southwest passengers are 
accustomed to seeing at other airports and will replace the current default GIDS that only 
provides basic flight information. 
 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Ashley Bruton, Director of Human Resources  
 
DATE: November 23, 2020 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item F 
 
October 2020 – OSHA Recordable Injury Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Monthly Activity as October 31, 2020 
 

• 0 OSHA Recordable Injuries 
 
2020 Calendar Year-to-Date  
 

• 10 OSHA Recordable Injuries 
 
2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Recordable Submissions: 

 
Calendar 

Year 

 
Annual 

Average # 
Employees 

 
Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 
Injuries 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 

Illnesses 

 
# Days 
away 
from 
Work 

 

2019 206 399,715 9 0 102 

2018 195 379,203 12 0 112 

 


















































	Agenda 20201123
	Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission September 28 2020 Regular Meeting Minutes 20201123
	Greenville-Spartanburg Audit Committee November 12 2020 Meeting Minutes 20201123
	NB Item A - Approval of Revision to the Rules and Regulations 20201123
	NB Item B - Approval of a Budget Amendment to the General Aviation Expansion Area Site Prep Project 20201123
	NB Item C - Approval of Lease Agreement for Milliken Aviation Hangar Facility 20201123
	NB Item D - Approval of General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project 20201123 
	NB Item E - Approval of Milliken Aviation Hangar Project Budget 20201123 F
	Info Section A - September 2020 - Traffic Report 2020112
	Info Section B - September 2020 Financial Report 20201123
	Info Section C - October 2020 - Development/Project Status Report 20201123
	Info Section D - October 2020 - Communications Status Report 20201123
	Info Section E - October 2020 - Commercial Business and Marketing Report 112320 F
	Info Section F - October 2020 - OSHA Recordable Injury Report 20201123
	Info Section G - Industry Presentation(s)-Article(s) of Interest 20201123
	The New Normal: How Does it Look?
	Leasing Pitfalls In and Around Airports
	How the Industry is Working to Combat COVID-19
	Airport 5G Moves from Concept to Reality
	Salt Lake City Int'l Constructs 21st Century Terminal


